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VERSUS 
, "',,' ; " ',;,\', ",.~:' NO. 98-~74-A 

EAST BATON R(jUGE'PA~rSH ' ,"::""";C , / 
SCHOOL BOARD:"ET"AL,,,,c"""',,-,,,'~,,,,,,,,:e, >"".""..,.....,"." "!'"~.,., '_~'r', 

, "':;'.~, ;,' ·:,<:,:~f~~1~",i} : ,;; " 
,,; '" ~~' ~ ,~:r.t '!<~ ,::: 

RbLlN~ aj;M~~b~d~r~; JO~~~Nt 
, ' ' ,'" .~'.;t~~~}t~:~\,,\:~~~~r- ,m~~f~;'t~1~f{~~!~~;~~;~t~;~::' ':_ : ~ 
This matter ,is before the court on molIOnbf aefendant East Baton Rouge 

': " ',I, ,,:.,'" .:,~l ':'l:;;"I';;'i,<j':;'f:"'~':"'~''';'' "" ,':." , . 

Parish School Boardf9~'$S~n;~;~;5~G,a~~t~~i'(B~~~:~~ib·.c~~~r" 'There is no need for 
, .' ,',,: <":,·"':::st~>;::,)·- ~ :;;;l~:[Jf:.'~?ilfl:;:~~~~f~:~~t~~~;~~ ~., ,," 

oral argument. PlaintIffs have filed a memorandum In oppositIon. This court has 
. ~> ".;-- ~-;-'fJ " .~~". ~f'_l~>!l" ,~, ~,;-

jurisdictionpursu~nr~o 28\1.S~C. §~1~~31~~'~""''"' ,; "" cC .. 

:,'.: ,:-~ rt~~~ i}:;:'$~~f~~_:~~-c~:;~~' ,~; :'"' ;'," :' 
• " '; - ,c" ".',': e'~i~~gr.Ql:In~- , 

..... - .' "''''~~:rk'''''''I!'.,,"'c<'.:CC'<'/'''' ",. , . 

, Plaintiff~ are 'Si~t~~r1 'lfo-rJle~'lq~~~)f~':~~'~Z;~~i&~rTI~f~Y~d a~ janitors by the 
-: , - ~,':: ~, ... ~< :~~?:j ?_ ~ --:.~ . ":,: ~~~,flf;I~~t)~'~(l~:-]f.t: ~~<- -1~~~?~};L~:~'::t-r, <:,.: f_';~ ;- . , 

East Baton Rougep~rish-§~hooi Bci~~H(((~:~h~~fB6~~cf1~"P~r6r\~ 1992, the School 
, ':! •• ~,_, ':;:,; '~;,: "~~i~J!;:~~j';~i1~~;,~~t:~~~i~~~:r\~ ,~~::.:":' : , 

Board employed janitors In three dIfferent designations. These jobs were titled 
, . ' ,', ,::::,~. ;~~H '.' ;i.~ :~m:~U;!?~i:~~~:;~r~;~~.:~(.we,;~,;: .,;.: :<. ' 

janitor I, janitor II, and:janHo"r' HI. 'ffie)ariitorl "posltiorl"fnvolved employment for six 
'. ,.' ;' 'c , ", u , ," '~:.; '<,Ai::~tt;:,~:~i~i~~~;±l 't~: ::,; , ::' , i . 'C, , 

hours a day dUrIng mne fllonths of the year. Most of the jamtor I positions were filled 
q .' ,.' . ~",,'_'), ::~c;:'."""~:r~1fI.;~~~fS~~;;> ;~~j~~\:;-~:,';:; '," 

DKT. & E~,tYl'r8Ie employees. Thp~1 position involved work essentially 
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, ' , 

":, ':,' flo,' :' '":,~J>i;J;'~Y;""~&:' ::;;,:~"';,: , ' ' 
that performed by janitors I, with the addition of traditionally "male" duties, such as 

, ," , ",'I' "';, 'T"'ifl!:~l1i1lWj"",~,:,::,:~~~:""" ,', ,,', 

lawn care and other ou~~sid~"ch6r~s.'~~'~Jkr~ft6:/11;~~~'it'6n ~as ~~ eight hour a day, 
, , ,~, c':, ,'", ~, ,:~' l,,~l~:;::;:;l~:~':;~:'};~: '~:'"c~:' , ";',': ,:' 

year round position. Most of the ja'nitor 11 pOsitio'ns were filTed by males. The janitor 
" :': ' " ~t~ '",c"i"" ",',,",' . 

III designatian was a full time pasltion entaning wark identical to' the ather twa 
, ,'" ~,' :: :, ,,"';n:£ll:f,~1ti~j;~f~~!,' :;~:'~, .:~, >< ::: ' " 

positions, with the addition of some supervisory functions, such as locking up the 
, , .:/, ":'r,:'" ~:;"Jtr~)~ .,'" 

buildings, and supervising late c1eamng crews. 
, ': . ,::' , :·J::;i, 1";:,;1~~:"., : :c< ' " " ' 

Plaintiffs were employed in the jamtor I position. In June of 1992, the School 
, ' '4 > T -- .- • I - ,: ly - 1 :~ ' . .1 11- " .4 - '!~ '~ .. : .~--".-, _ 1.>"., -,. ~ 

Board decided to' cutth~ :hi
6urs oft6~11~~\f~lJ~f6:*;~~~ix~haurs a week, to' faur. 

.. , ': " ,:, ,::'\:'L ,,_,1 "'~i' ;"/ ," '';c r,>c, ' " 
Some benefits were also' eliminated: -" 'In c·June 0("1993'," 46 female janitorial 

,. -, '~":T" -, -'"-i:. -;. I" -;.,. ,_~ ,;,' ;, .c 

employees, including the '~~I~i~fiffs" *r~~t suirag~in~f'the ~ School Board in the 

Nineteenth JUdicial'Distri'ct'toG<rt,:p~;t~lbV-~~ii~Jib~~~ug:e. ~the suit alleged that 
• ", ",~';" ,- ... ,~., ~r',' ,.l'.ifl,~~~.t,:,,~-,-~'·:;"'i~~§~}~ :;r"~ -l~ , ;~ "":.~, ~ ".,' " • , 

the reduction in hours. and~~ri~fits l]~~!~r~r~~~1&p~6~;~'te'm~le employees in 
- '--" ',- -= .• l~""'~"""r-"~~'~'''''t _, ,..a..;:G'''t,~kr:~ • .:,~~, - _._ .... , • ,. , 

violation of La. R.$. 51 :223( ~fseq.:'atJ;~fi~~c-'i~te~hfi~nardisc~l~ination in violation 
,L:' :,,' ,,'l;H;<~:~,:.: ,,;;c~,'~/~' :,',< , 

of La. R.S. 23:1006. ThiS I?wsuitis stm,pendlng. 
, ,. ," ,. ',: ' .,',' ",t'~1u'":;,,: ~;~/~"" :" :~; , " 

Shortly after the filing 'of fhe state 'call i"f'lawsU'f( "the United States Department 
~. , _ - '(><':'<:,,:' ,< ,;~i:~'i~ ~'1:- r~~.::'~.:"~.?:~-, ,-.i:~'~(';'if.: ~,~~-~, .. , ;~'-:: ~', ~ 

of Justice began an in~uiry'f;;io clhe'~fFt~§~~~~~6¥i2~~~rth~'S6hoor Board with regard 
, " ."":,',.-: ,'" '~i~~L~, r~~:,~'~~'.~~:';~,') ':,: '. :<" 

to the placement of women in the janitor II and III positions. 
, '" r " ,,: ", ... 

-_ ~- - _ ' .~ .. .'!.~: ."~ -, :- "'~ -~r<- t:~ ~ 1~"~>1:" ,.'~ '~, '~_~" .,.'c.', '_ 

In 1996, the School ~9ard b~Qan evaluati~gall posltlons,within the district with 
. . ,' .. ' _ ~~'j ",~ ',} ? -" . ~ -~~~:~_~<,_:'~.~~'~'~" ,,-,' :~ ~ J' ~. -,"', - -. 

an eye toward eliminating jineffldemt use orresou'rces. Pursu'ant to this effort, it was 
, " '.':: _:~,,~:, i'- ~,::;::~:tE lq"'~~';:~_':f:~o~"'<;" .' ~::: .', 

decided that the three-tiered jamtor po~itlon would be eliminated, and replaced with 
~ ~'"'~.~,: r • '-', --"~~:'~-lJ'~~~,> >~~ ~,,~,.,.~;:c. "~~'>~_>1r-::'f<"~--";--' " 

two new positions, janitor, and 'lead"j'a
1nitor. Cthe';j~nf(o}' po'sition wauld correspond . .' . ;.+~ ~,: :::'., 
~ . ." .', -; 

l .. +.~', ~ 't,' ~'~"r_.:-~- )' ~' 
- ."-~: ~ ;-,-

'..'.,Jt , .... :-, : l~:~ .. ' 
, .' ,,' ; ,JIr' .,"-



"", ;; . 
,,' ;,' , Vi'" ' 

, lead Jariitor position would be the 

equivalent of the old j~nlfor'~~i;' ~ias~· on. g~i; P;iitib~s ~~~e to b'e full time jobs, 
-" ,- ~r ' ':- N",:;.,.:- ':,'_;-,:~;':T-~~_:::'. __ ~. 

with medical benefits. The' School Bo5r~rdedd;d 'th~cifp'resent janitorial employees 
, ~ - 0"" ~ "I,. ~' -t 'f"" , '1' -i' _ _ ~ ," 

who did not wish to 'appl~~ fgrtll'~ri~~~~l~f{)g~"~~6btfd;ke~p fh~l~ old jobs. 
, - ,;~';o~':,: "<:r~<]tr'r:~~~::, -;:~.'1r,~.):;;<'~ ",'~., " " 

The School Board 'a:!so stales lhafit'haa"'defermined that its janitors were 
• l ' • _ .. _~,', ;;'~~~~:"" -'~-:~,-,:~::~;; Ti~;:-ii:~;:~:.:~':~t~i\~.~~;'?:;:~-:-- _ . ,:~ ._,~t , 

overpaid, through referencEtto;[our~tana Depa'rtm~nroft~bbr statistics for average 

salaries in the region. AccordinglY, thJ~c~~6/~6aVd'~~ange~'the pay scale system 
~ Oft "_ .~"/~: -.:; :··"!/~~_< ~~~t"~tr:1' ,,;~~: :f,~~~t::~t{':t,;-:,{;~.~:-t":L :~~":_~<: ::T-" ': 

for janitors, which resulted In lower''floUrly~pai 'A'testing' procedure was put into 
, • ", •• ,- 1. • ..... ': ," _r'fj'4~,';+."*1{lr;~-<"':}.: ~ "I~";"!;!..i."~""_~,- '- - - _ -~~ I' - .-

place for applicants to"the '~~V/j~'~it~~1r~d;:fff~ns,:iA~~li2~~t~\~~re required to take 
- _"" .... r " - '-" .::t,~~~ "-;;r-~"-"" ±' :·,"",j-~i':L" ;~,~.F~:: _ ~ ,-- ';-

a "practical" test, in~olvi~g\he::~s~ 'gfffi~-t~t~~~~6~ieqHj~~fu~ht, 'and a reading test. 

" . ,',: ir~~:.-\>; 'Ri~(!~;t ; );t~:1 :.',:/:.:)' 0" 

Applicants for the new leaa Janitor position were nof required to fake these tests. 
'-', '(;,,' "~f'';'"'' ':~·:\:l!::'. .. ::'~~' " ,"," 

The reading require~ent was"i~;'pl~mente'af~llowing an incident in which at 
': .:~~., ,< ':, ~~ ~"""H~1~r',!.::~~1».;,~"~~~;:~:~.~',, -.~ - :':"'~--~--: . 

least one School Board Em~'ployee wa'{s'fck~hed~cM~:t6a!~u~todi;ari's failure to follow 
" ": ':' .;,:~ -,:' ,~/d(Hi{:0'c't~~(;:":~-':'~"~'.~' , 

printed instructions on the use of a pesticide. The School Board states that it 

conducted an' inve~tigati~~~ {ri~~ \he re~~in~ ;'a6~~:~:~rft~'j~'ii'ito';i~1 employees, which 
- , ' ,- ",' ","', '::: ',' ---, r'-i:~:;-i'f,i .. ,,..,,-,, :~"- "';c"" ,;::' " ,,' 

revealed that many of themwere'i"ft~~~te,.c')~h'e' School Board felt that safety 
, "':., :~~.::'~ ,-:-" ~~~ ~~'tll~'1-~:<?::-'~~d-,:}~ ",~~;~"\".:", :'«, ~ ~-'. -

concerns demanded th~tii~i'n~w ja~rtg;~:f~~karl~~~f~tth~Ceigh~h grade level. The 
."- -- '~ "~.'-: _ .- ~=1' ,~t -:," '.,j'-':,: 'l~;,'.'~ {","'- ~:,-' '-"', - -

School Board states th~tifiis i~acJin~;:r~t~rwas'~:et~rrilf~~d bas~a upon the fact that 
,- ::' \f·~t'o. ">;' -~ "-~ -l' ,i:-" j~',' i .,' ~ ,~- f,-'''' .... l'"-~,.. '.,: 

the safety guidelines ofth:eg6;~p~~i;~h~(~~t~f~aha~~'~rth~Adrninistration (OSHA) 
, :~~ <' "~ : ,,1~: > ~'~~~lf;:~~ _ -, ~.~ . .,~f~;~'-"~:· :: ',,', ,;-' ' 

were written on th,e ei9.hth:':gra~le'ieJe:t~s were 'm~~{MateriaISafety Data Sheets. 
- , '-. ~ '; ',,~'~;:,r~\ <" '<:'7>~~' ~f:l - ~'''~':_-'~ .. :_.~}.::, ;" .:' -

Applicants for the new le~d j~_nit~r~~~,~~16n ~~r~~not~Lbj~cied to the reading test. 
, ,.,." i .. :; -' ,-~. :,., ',' 

f :;;.~ L:r., -

" , ';~:,;~,:~,~:' 
.: ". j; ffl;, , , 

" ",' ,;.·Jr~F'~' 
, ~~t,~­, df'~ 

____ "_:::.Ll. __ _ 



, ...: ',,,, :';,' ~ ,-,~ , I 
The School Board's plan for the new jamtor positions was incorporated into 

- " ,_ L:~i {I; ~",:,'<;~', ':",~~ , 
a consent decree between the School Board and the U.S. Department of Justice in 

, " , , L.;::' ,-; : : ;" ~< ,;~: ~ ," , 
June, 1997. The reading requirement' was nofs'peclfi'callymade a part of the 

, -,' " , ,di',i': ,,;,~ :~:: r ." .. ; :;'-" , ' 

consent decree, although the decree did stafetharTa]ppl1cants selected for possible 
, ,': " "F".> :,"'~:):\t,~~:-:, " ' 

employment as Janitors or Lead Janitors maV be required by the School Board to 
_ , ' " : [\,C~ __ " >': ,"',." < ' 

pass additional lawful and job-related selection devices or requirement." Consent 
" ct,: ' " " .'., ~,," 

Decree (defendants' Exhibit H), p. 8. 
o • • L:. Ii ~ ,~~, ~ •• 

f ~ , h ~t::-' -.} "".:'1 .... iI'tt~~~ ~ t-

In the fall of 1997, the plaintiffs' were contacted by the office of Mr. James 
, "" i ~ I: 1'; ~.~~" ~f~",,' • '. ~ -- ~ ,- - " 

Manley, Personnel Supervisorforthe M~int~nan8~ 6ep~'rtment ofthe School Board, 
. .F ':< ;,',-" "', 

• :: -,..,:. - f' ,,-- - - • • ,_: - ~ '. '_ 

regarding their interest in applying for the new janitor position. While all of the 
, t::: !, ~., :t~J~,l'-.. " , , 

plaintiffs passed the practical test, ali but orie falled the reading test. The plaintiffs 
h. ':.' .. l~ ~, ~-~~3:~~j7: j .~, ,r.,;. 

who failed the reading 'test weregive~' theto"pt'ib'n of remaining in their old janitor I 
, ',; ".>Hr;;:,:<:'::)'" _. 

jobs, or taking the new janitor position on a probationary basis. Attendance at adult 
, ,,".C~ ;:' .. ':',~l:~>-' ' ' 

reading classes at night was a condition of this probation. Those accepting the 
_~ ." L ,-,'~, ,L~',: ~. _"~_ ~:J '~~ ~~~ ~ , 

probationary position woulcfbe' paid at'the row est step In the new pay scheme until 
- ,-}-" '~-~, - ,: • ;"''.~- - "- -:' - • 1 ._ 

such time as they ~ere abr~to satisf/111eJlr~~arngCreq~iremerit. At that point, they 
" '. ',' .' v' ~~ ! c 'l'~" _: '. ' " 

would be moved up the salary scale to 'i~fl~~tfhe p~sitr6n on the scale that they had 
• -,' ll~_;,~',:, 1,::;'~':"(' ~~:~-~~':':<~' , 

• ~ 1 " <.' .. 

occupied in their ol?, janitor I jobs. 

The plaintiffs state that Mr: Manlley' ga~~ c6nfllcting information regarding the 
. I'::; : -- ,'.: . :', 

consequences of failing the reading test, and accepting the probationary janitor 
'., , ,I ~~.:: ': < ~ :, ~," " .:, '.: . . 

position. According to the plaintiffs, some were told that if they failed the reading test 
~ j '~-- :' ~'~~" ~',~\-,-, 

, l~:,~i,:: . 

• ,I -. 



• +~ :' ~ ~ • 

~' . ."~' - ,:' ' , 

- .' " ; ::' ' .' - ,": ' , ' " -

a second time, that they would De termi~a{ed:'" btfi;er~ ~ere told by Manley that he 
-: ~~" " '," l:~: !~:~!';; ::- ,<' ": ,,-' , ,~ · -. 

did not know what would happen to them if they failed to pass the reading test. The 

_ , ,,", '. '1 ;: ; \c· ... ,L,'L, ,'" 
plaintiffs state that all were told that if they decided to take the new janitor position 

. ~ I. r ~._:. : ': . .,.: 0-. <. .'. 

on a probationary basis, tnat they could not returrl"to their old janitor I positions. The 
. , _ ,:~ Jt·,~: ; : .. ~' ,~~- , .. :.~~ci~~ '-'i.' • 

plaintiffs also state that they were told that remaitiing in their'current positions while 

preparing to 'retake the reading test w~'~ n:6f an option': .' 

_ _ • • _ ~ ., T • < '< - ._~ L" :.:' ,) i ~ '~) .. ? ~ j'~, ~ ; r~: '-:: ! • 

The plaintiffs filed suit in this court In November, '1998, claiming unlawful 
- , 

retaliation and disparate impact und~'rTitle vlI.F>r~intiffs aUege that the School 
, " 

" . I - -

Board established the conditions, quaTIrtcatlons, ancfJoh description for the new full 
~ , . " 

time janitor posi~ion with theintenf to"1ef~ltaie"ag;ai~~t'them :fo~ their participation in 
, -~ r· :: !";: ~i" ;. ':~ " \ .: ' : ~: .. "- : -

the earlier state court discrimination suit.' Alternatively, the" plaintiffs claim that the 
- . ",' l: . :, : i~ ~,~. ~ :." .. ' 'e" ' t • , ~. '_ • 

condition placed on the new janitor p'osifion, speCIfically "the reading requirement, 
)' , '. '," • >", 

had a disparate impact on'female emip16t~es. C" 

, ~ • • >. 1!!..,:J,: -;.',.1 -,:'" ",,"":~,,~ 
. $urriniary'-'judgmentFacts' , 
-- : "",:' : -~- t --':t ; ~ ,,' ..I, ' " ~ 4"l"-' " 

Defendants have submitted a ~taferrtent' ofunconf~sted facts in support of 
" .. .. J >; J :J"~< 'i,:', ",', ;;:','~" ." . 

their motion for summary judgment, in accordance with Local Rule 56.1. The 
" ",-' . ~ -

plaintiffs have responded, admitting some of the~~ f~cts,' and denying others. For 
-, >~ ,.~., -' ~-_,'·1~~~"~~~'~·!~-~;'.-·"7<::- ":~"-~~» : .. ,~~.,:\, 

the purpose of this court's decision on the Instant motion, the following material facts 
, 't" > .. , .. .; 

are admitted: 
, ; - ~ '-

, _ j,e '1>:' I: ,.~ _' :",~" ~ " , 

5. Plaintiffs herein are among thosk ptafntiffs who' filed a lawsuit in June, 1993 
_ t -., I.,,···. ',:'~JIi":;":, .. f-·,,· ;.' ·'7 

. . j.. . :.. ':" -; ,-, ,: <' • --" " 

against the East Baton Rouge Parish School Board in state court alleging a violation 
" .. r-' :" ; - ::;'" 

1.'5' 
1 • ,.t 

, " 
J. 

-- >-, ,I. 



, \' 

. i- r'~: ~ : ' 
'._ t " ··l'-.':'c··.; .. ·· '.'~_,.' " ..... 

of state law for the reduction of their hours in violation of L.R.S. 17:422.5, as well as 
..' .:.-,.' J~i,~ :J~,'·L,:~· '/"~:,:.', -..'.. , 

employment discrimination on the basis of sex in violation of L.R.S. 23:1006 and 
" " _ 1',3i i<·~·, ,_' :~,. " . ' 

L.R.S. 51 :2231, et. seq., Louisiana's anti-discrimination statutes. 
r ~ ~'. ) ,', • - -,.' - "~ ~-

,- .' . _ - ,-"'--. t .' ~' " : ,- .,' ~~~ . ,.-::.. .' -~; ' __ - -~ ': , 
14. In April, 1997, a laWSUit was filed against the East Baton Rouge Parish School 

, ~~ '." i -~ 

, - . '- j -, ,:. . -'. . , , 
Board alleging discrimination in thehiring and promotion for Janitor II and Janitor III 

I -, j _. " 

- '. -l . . I., '.' , ' .' i - - '.' ._ 
positions on the basis of sex in violation of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. §2000e, et. seq., by 

L I: ~ ,. 

the United States Department of Justibe. 
. _ -. --t ~ i : -' ~;.~.. -'.: _ 

15. A settlement between the School Board and the Department of Justice was 
. l'~ : ," ~-~~ - -

.- .' T, -": -
negotiated in the form of a consent decree .. 

:1:, ,'. _, 
, j. ~.- j ." '- .. , 't' _ ... , , _ 

16. The consent decree also required that the part-time Janitor I's would be given 
. .' ,-:-I: -- :: - " '" ~:, ". - . ~. , , 

the opportunity to apply for the new J~nitd~ position if they met the qualifications . 
. , - I' . ., " " ~,- ': - . . 

, . _ L ; ", • -. - -, 
19. Beginning in approximately 1996, the Schoor Board, through its then Associate ,- . . , 

" i " '. ,.,. c-" . 

Superintendent for Human Resources and'instrudion, Christine (Chris) Arab, began 
, ~ 1 ' , 

evaluating all school system poslti~~:~,,: i~c1uding' job descriptions and salary 
- r ; •... . 'i . . .' 

schedules, in an attempt to pinpoint those depaffments within the school system 
1 ::. -

. r :::~. , ~" 

which were operating inefficiently. .. 
, .• j: ~;;_ I ; ;, ,;':' ~: ~_ '.' • 

20. The goal of this study was to illuminate areas in which the school system could 
- i : _ "~: . t- - - , 

- h '~ :., ,....... -.' ' -
save money and then use the funds for its instructional services. 

. . '. :{.;" r-" ::.', '.".:,: .. 

21. All janitor and custodian classifications were'induded in this study. . -.'.r,· f'c -" .' . . 
~ -. i -; _; - ~ ~ 

I ~~ .. , ' 
-~. t ;: -j <" 

. 1 ~. ! 
! .'. I - -

I:· .. !. > 

t)t . 
I· :., 

; • 1 
j; I 



. ~ 

29. An incident occurred where a custjdi~h\mpro"p~rIY used a chemicar to eliminate 

. ~ . , ; . : ,-:j'jr . ;c~>~~>:;'~';~~,(L~: ~ "::,L ~ , 
ants from an office complex, causing at least one of its employees to require medical 

attention. 

',~ , • < ~d= ~ . ", ..... ~ ":: ':" . . ,<, ~' ~ 

30. Upon questioning the 'custodian i~J~IV~cj, ~~r: James Br~ussard, fo'~mer Risk 
, .:. ~, '.' "l;"~: i :: . . l-: , ",' ~.;. ,~~ > ,~" ~ 

Managerforthe School Board, concluded thaffhe employee involved could not read. 
~ I' , I):.;. ,:,~., . ~ .>~' . 

31. Mr. Broussard conducted an informal survey among the'custodian supervisors 
~ ~ " .' L' 7 .: < ~ : ~j • ~. ~ ", 

and principals of schools ~egarding th~ perceived literacy" problem among custodial 

and janitorial staff. 

~ ~i:.;;' i : ,~:; 'co: '",' 
. i' ',!:; " :', 

~ ~ 

~, .,.~ h\) •• ~: ~ , .. : ~ . .', 
33. Mr. Broussard believed that the safety guidelinesof OSHA were written at an 

: -. - -~~! ~ ; -' ~: .'. . .. . ' -': '-

eighth grade reading level. ~ 
, . ,j J ~ ~ : ,_ - " "I, -, I , 

_ -:' " ,_- " '~' ~,j; ~ ~', ,_~ \' -- c. ,:, J ::_, :, _ r. , 

34. Following this investigation, Mr. Broussard recommended to Mrs. Arab, his 
, ~ . ~ ~ ./:;: : ~~~": ;,' . ,.:, '. ' 

supervisor, that a reading requirementbe placed into the job descriptions of the 
, ." . f r ~; ~ ~-1 ; ',' ~ ~~.: -, ;~_ 5 . ~~~,: ' ~ ~-.~ .! _,,: _ ,., _ - ", 

janitorial and custodial staff to avoidffutu're 'h,ddents"whereby persons could be 
.' .' ' ~. !: :., .. ~ ~; :~. .:' . . 

injured due to an employee's inability to read and follow the directions provided on 
, . . ~~, ~ ., .. :,+~':~ i' . > .~'"., _~': '. ' 

the chemicals used in everyday cleaning of the schools in the system. 
" . 1 " .. ; ''';~',,':'. '" ~ 

37. I n the fall of 1997, plai~tlffs herein 'were among tho'5e persons contacted by the 
, • - I _ '~,:- - ~ 

. '. ,~' , i~,~ '~~',_ .-~.r:""~' ,,'.,ii.i,- ," " 

Human Resources Department for the Physical Plant SerVices department of the 
c ~: -, '""!,.... ~ " _.. '" "-

School Board and directed'to 'report tb hl'e Mainten~nceoffice compfex to participate 
. '. " ' .' - \ l~ .~; :" ~,: :.~ ;, :.- ':~, .~~~" . 

in testing designed to evaluate the applicant's qualificatioris for the new full-time 
. '·i<;'· ' 

Janitor position. 
L.'. , I, r 
I ,.' 



, ,~,---: 

. 
1 
t--

. 1: --

38. The Janitor I's were given the loption of 'choosing to go forward with the 
~ t ," -) •. '-' . ., - '. '. -' 

- '_ "': ~i',·':·". ,J T: : - , .. ,. , 

application process or to remain in fheir position as a Janitor I. 
i, " :, ' , 
I ' 

39. Those persons who reported, in~ludfng pia I rififfs herein; except for Dorothy 
1 - j - - ;'.' ~ , ' , -'-' 

L _, ' " : , 

Banks, Amy Lane, and Bertha Twine, :we~e 'give'n a practical test to evaluate their 
J- "I .. 

, ,I,'~ : ," ,c' : . 

skills in operating equipment and in performing certain required tasks of the job. 
T' , 

40. The practical test evaluated an individual's ability to operate a lawn mower, a 
" , J ~" -, - • - " , ' 

l '1 ' •• c" 

, " l", " '", '; ':, , 
weed-eater, a floor buffing/cleaning machine, to climb ladders safely, to change light 

-~ , ~ r' ~~:: H.. _ - - f > " 

bulbs in the flourescent lighting fixtures'in the schools, fo change air conditioning 
, ~ -_.' " -"' 

1 

filters, etc. 
, , 

1. 

41. Plaintiffs were also subjected to a' writte'n Test of Adult Basic Education. 
j ~~~., -, -
1 ,-I-

44. The requirement of an ability to r~ad at an eig'hth grade level was included on 
1 

I , 

the job description for the new Janitor 'po~ition. 
,t, 

- 1-- '_ 

45. It was also provided in t~e ConsenfDecree approved by the court in June, 1997 

that those applicants selected for pos~il)le emp'loyment in the new Janitor or Lead 
1, ' ' 

- ~, ~" 

Janitor pOSitions might be required by'the School Board "to' pass additional lawful 
,I - .' - . , 

{ I, " 

and job-related selection devices or requirements." 
t- : - . 
i ' I, ',,': 

56. Some plaintiffs who participated in the testing were contacted by Mr. James 
: :,' ,~-, ~ .... 

i 
! 

Manley to discuss their performance ~n the tests. " 
I . I 

57. All plaintiffs passed the practical tkst, but only' one plaintiff scored at an eighth 
? " ' 
~ ,- . 

grade reading equivalency on the Test of Adult Basic Education. 
i .. '" 
; 



58. Even though most of the plaintiffs ~iQ not' meet the reading requirement for the 
.' " .::i;~ilftL ,,':~, . 

job, they were given the option of remaining in their Janitor I positions or taking the 
l j -~.' :,~\;fr : 
. :.: 

new position on a probationary basls, even if their reading level was at the 
i' "", j - ~ - - "" " • -'. • 

kindergarten level. At suchfime'as they reached an eighth grade reading level, each 
,,: " , t,2~)~>~~ .;~;"~<":,',,:':-

plaintiff would be eligible for permanent status in that position. 

69. On November 18, 199ri~ p'laintiffs Ik~j:iiri ;fil~d~th~ instanf lawsuit in the United 
_ r:~~i J1:~\'~~::-<~;~"-' ':'J:.1" <",-,~~.~ -

States District Court for'the Middle Di~trict'ofLgtji~i~~~, after having filed charges 
, "--1~.>1 r " , - " fi _ - > ~:; _ .'.: ,- • • -

~ _ J~-~~,!-c~' j:_,. -~-, _ -"<.-

with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission on behalf of themselves and 
, ; , ';<Lt <', '''',~ ,;~>';'~: ',.r <~ "'~ .'~ 

others similarly situated, charging the School Board with discrimination against them 
-:' 'r-:; , i " ,'". ': :~_", ~';.f: '<, , ,l,~, 

on the basis of their sex, as well as retaliation for their being parties to the state 
_ - ~, ~ ,! ~ ~ , '. ~t '-"" _ ,,_,' ,- - _ ~ 

! ~ :-

lawsuit. , ' 

70. Plaintiffs alleged that the establish1~~~t of the' conditions, qualifications and job 
, l' ", -

j' " j , '" " .. , ,',: 

description for the new full-time jani~or position, including the requirement that 

applicants pass both the practical and reading t~sts' before 'becoming eligible for 
, 1: ' : '.', ~"",' , . . , 

employment in the position, was doneby the defendants "with the intent to retaliate 
" ! " ";,, t' • .' ~. -
, i' . 

- _ .' '_! ~,~.! i '.'.' • .' • r ,', ,"" -. _ 

against female employees who had filed a lawsuit with the School Board [or] 
i _0 ! ~ . ~ _ • , 

, ,,!,,:, \' ~:: ., ..,. 

alternatively, the conditions that [the defendants] placed on this new position had a 
' j .. ~ , 

, 

discriminatory impact on the plaintiffs.;' 
; 
," 

I , , l ,'" 
:9 ,. 

, " 
!. ,. i' 
i 



" ~ ",- \:.~ , -.', 

>~~~~~'lL 

.I? 
, 

_ 'ii ~ -:-.,; -,. 

DI~cu~sion 
j' ,- 1< 

A. Retaliation under Title VII 

The plaintiffs claim that the Scho:ol Board e'stablished the new janitor position, 
;: J 

with its attendant requirements, with ihtent to' retaIiate~against them for their state 
- ~ t; - ' 

, 

court discrimination suit, in violation of Title VII '§764(a), as amended, 42 U.S.C.A. 
I,' .. 

§ 2000e-3(a). 
_ '_ 1 ~<;: ;" ~ _ " '. ~_ ~ _ 

Title VII provides that "[i]t shall be an unlawful employment practice for an 
-. I 1 • 

employer to discriminate against any 6f his e_mployees ... becau~e he has opposed 
. j ',.,: ~ --

any practice made an unlawful employrnentpractice by this subchapter, or because 
, 

_ l -: ~ '0' _ ~ .. 

he has made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an 
... -, _. 

- - -~ . -', . . ," -" ': - ~ - '.' " 

investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this subchapter. 42 U.S.C.A. § 2000e-

3(a). 

In order to state a prima facie r~taliation c1ai'm under Title VII, a plaintiff must 
, . '. 

show three elements. First, that he qr sh~ engaged in an activity protected from 
, ,I "",: , .. ';, , " , 

retaliation under Title VII. Second, that he or she was subjected to an adverse 
, ' j; ': .' """', " 

" : I ' ,~' ,'" ' c 

employment action. Third, the plaintiff must show a causal connection between the 
. i ' , .' ~ - > ::~- - • 

protected activity, and the alleged retafiatory action. Shirl'ey v. Chrysler First, Inc., 
l' .".,,; .. 

970 F.2d 39, 42 (5th Cir.1992); Maybe~ryv.\f~ughtAircraft Co., 55 F.3d 1086 (5th 

, '" J '; , ' ' " 

Cir. 1995). 
t • • - ,.,¥ _ 

The defendants do not dispute the fact that participation in a lawsuit alleging 

discrimination is a protected activity Jnder Title VI'I. 'The'School Board, however, 
J, 



~~' }:-':'~ -

, ,~, 

IW:li , , 

disputes the remaining two element~,' arguing that' there was no adverse 
,r " . 
·t ~:~ 

employment action taken against the ~ plaintiffs, and even if there was, no causal 
-~.-,;'~;'~, '~~'< 

- ,:i~, ':: ',' .' _ "7 _ • 

connection can be established between spch actjqn, and the protected activity. , L' ':,": ,', ' , ," ' ' , 
. t: _",- , - _. 

The plaintiffs characterize the a~verse employment action in this case as "a 
., 
~ :~ 

bogus reading prerequisite establish~d 'to hlock (the plaintiffs') promotion to a full 
, "1. C " , , 

- \." ' 

_ ~~_ ,-_t-:......l-:~,,~,'- _:.t-"~ _,'-, 

time position." Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for 
, ' , ' ,~r.:~': ,"', .,;: '. ' " , ' 

Summary Judgment, p. 15. The plaintiffs argue that the School Board's actions left 
. ~. :' ! + '" - ", '- • ' ,,:";' • 

~ ; , " ' 

them confronted with the choice of ,acc,epting a the new janitor position on a 
, ~ , ,-' ~ . ' . , 

. -~ ,~ l:~ ,,- ., 
probationary basis, with the attendant burdens of adult reading classes and ongoing 

., '. -

" 'r, ;' '."-' , ' 
uncertainty about their employment futures if they failed to pass the reading test, or 

" !' , ':. .' " " 
, ' , ,!:, ',_','. C' ,! , - ;', ,',' 

remaining in their janitor I positions with no benefits, and no hope of promotion. 
I I' , ',- '. • , 

lJ + , ' 

!, , 

The meaning of "adverse empJoyme-nt action" has been clarified by Fifth 
} _ >'i ,'. J ~,' ~ _~ .. 

Circuit case law. In Dollis v. Rubin, 7~,~:~d 711' (~~n Cir.19~5), the court stated that 
• - "l'- - ""-, ' . ~ -, .. 

"Title VII was designed to address ultimate employment decisions, not to address 
, " ~ ~ .. '.-j; - - • 

. _ l 

every decision made by employe.rs that 'arguably might have some tangential effect 
,f-" -"" • -

upon those ultimate decisions." Id a't781-82. Ultim~te employment decisions 
, . :... '-' ' - "- -,::-

;' J . ,'. -

include actions such as "hiring, granting leave, discharging, promoting, and . ~ ! - ! '-- - - , - - • 

compensating." Id. at 782. (Citing Page v. aolg~r, 64-5 F.2d 227, 233 (4th Cir.)(en 
. i : -

banc), cer!. denied, 454 U.S. 892, 102S.Ct. 388, 70 LEd.2d 206 (1981 )); Mattern 
, ~ '. ,i _ ': .... __ -'-_ ,-_ 

" 

v. Eastman Kodak Company, 104 F:jd't02 (5th Ci~: 1997). Thus, actions taken by 
~ • ; , ! - i::r--

~' ,,:' -

, 

~' 11 



· .. -"" - -

an employer that fail to rise to the lever of "ultimate employment decisions" are not 
1'" l;>:': . .,.: > c •.• ',' • 

"adverse employment actions" within the meaning of Title VII. 
i . 

The defendants argue that this standard precludes a finding that their decision 
! - - , 

" i -- _ ' ~ _, '- , 

to implement the new janitor position, with its attendant reading requirement, 
· 

constituted an adverse employment d~cision within the meaning of Title VII. The 
, ~ -

. , 
School Board points to the fact that the plaintiffs ..J.vere allowed the choice to keep ., ' 

.. 
J j - -, 

their janitor I jobs, or to apply for the n~w janitor position, and argues that whether 
i 

or not the plaintiffs passed the reading'test did not affect their status as employees 
" 1 '-"- -

fo the School Board. 

The only category of actions chect in Dailis to which the School Board's 
! . , 

1 < + , ~ 

decision to implement the new janitor' position with its reading requirement might 
I :. , 
! ,., , 

correspond is "promotion." Thus, it cou~d be argued that the School Board's decision 
'. , 
• I 

effectively denied the plaintiffs a promotion, which could constitute an ultimate 

employment decision. The move fromjanitor I to the new janitor position, however, 

was not a part of any internal ordered'scheme of promotion to which the plaintiffs 
!: 

were entitled, either from years of se~ice; or job performance. Instead, the janitor 

position was a new job, for which the pl~intiffs were given a right of first refusal 
i' 

before the position was offered to the public. Given this fact, and given the 
j-

I 

additional fact that the plaintiffs had th'e choice of staying where they were with no 
'j - ., '. - , 

_ i ' ' , 
adverse consequences, this court finds that implementation of the new janitor 

: " i • ' -
, i 
" . 

position was not an ultimate employment decisi6n. 
< ;, --. , 

i 

; 12' 
J 

, 
. I 



]. -

,~ -- ~ 

Accordingly, the plaintiffs have failed to state'a prima facie case of retaliation . , .'., ,,--, k~ -: ,,'.' -. ': ~, . t, " 

under Title VII. The defendants are ert~tl~dtQ?,~mlT!,~ry judgment on this issue. 
, j" '" ' . , ~ - , ' 

B. Disparate Impact 
-t -;: ,'J ,; 

,;f,' ; " ' " 
• , ' , "" t i _ *> j, r j."- ~ ~ t ,," .' -. ; - -

In the alternative, the plaintiffs argue that the reading requirement had a 
_ -" -; f' ~_ I, " ~"-, ,," :. -' ' " ,':: - _ 

disparate impact on female employees within the meaning of Title VII. The plaintiffs - ," - "t: :.,;,:,> ';:' .. ",~, ""'~ '-, -.' '~, 

contend that they were the only Scho~I' aoard e'n,'pioyees impacted by the reading 
" ' ']<;, i. '> : .-~ "":,, " ' 

requirement, as they were the only current employees interested in moving into the 
~ ~,;. , ~., " ," • T ' l' • " ~;;' - .' T • -

1 ) ""',. '.,~' , 

new janitor position, whose'additional ho.urs and benefits con~tituted a promotion for 
, , '. -,', f,'f. : ; , :, :,', ' r": 'i'~:,'" " 

them. Current janitors II, by contrast, c9,yl~ siJl)plychoose to remain in their full time 
-, ;, I ' !.' '"" 

janitor II positions, or apply for lead'-j~~itor positions, thereby circumventing the . _' " ~+ '> ><:', > 'i:':T ' ." ":" ' 

reading requirement. 
.l 

, ' ' j';~, " ,', ' , 
In order to establish a claim of cUsparate impact employment discrimination, 

, .'~, . F~~~-~- '>~' -',~\ -' -~ ~, ~~, " ,:', '0 >'~ - ,> ~ ,~. 

a class of plaintiffs must show thata'fa'dafly neutral employment practice results in 
, ", ' , ' ~1~ ":;: ,". ;., : "", " ' : ' 

I '" ",." . , ' '.: 

a significantly adverse impact on a protected class. Griggs v. Duke Power 
." 'j OJ. ' ~, .'" :- '. - 1-_ -' , -

] . -
"\ ·L $~' '~? ," ' ,'. 

Company, 401 U.S. 424, 91 S.Ct. 84~".28 L.,~q.29 158 (19Z1). 
" . " ': '" " ~. ':~:':;L,~,', ",: ''",i': .' , 

The facts of this case, howeverl do not reagily lend themselves to analysis 
- l' -,' - ,r -" 

1 

under a disparate impact theory. The disparate impact theory is usually applied to 
-" ': • :,,' ~" l -. i" _: "i ~-, V ~ ;.': _ c T, 

!-', : - ~ ~ <, :, '....~"O-

show that an employment practice results in a sexual or racial disparity in the 
- ~ "~' ,- ,':' - - ."~: - " : ..., , , ' , 

1 ~ :' . ,>}-." 

workforce. The plaintiffs complain of the fact th.at the reading test was applied to 
. , 1-'-;: ."'i,- . ·/:r ::'J' .. 

them, while mostly male janitor II e,mployees could avoid the test, either by 
l~ , ::= " 
, i 

.J '.: , , - .' ' 
<; '1'. : 

1 .: i ' 

j'.13 
I" I 

1_' 

I, ' 

'"' I, 



~ -~~~ at I~~~~;f~:?7~~~~~~rr>!!; ~ 

( ~ 

, ~ i 

:f '" 
'~'>f 

.. ' 1 ~\:"~ " , 

remaining in their janitor If positions, oLby applying for lead janitor positions, for 

, ~ '.lt~jJl·' 
which no reading test was mandated. ~ ,~ ._ 

_ " , ,I' 'Ui!}tJ', "' '. ~ 
In Pouncy v. Prudential Insurance Company of America, 688 F .2d 795 (5th 

i - , " : 

Cir. 1982), the court stated that "[t] he disparate i'mpact model applies only when an 
!. ~ 
" ~; , 

employer has instituted a specific procedure, '~, usually a selection criterion for 
~ , ~,r~- ,~: ";;. . ( " 

employment, that can be shown to have a causal connection to a class based 
I' '. 

-_ , L __ : ", _ ,',". _-
imbalance in the workforce." Id. at 800. Later In the opinion, the court again 

! ~ " , 
1 - -', t ' ,- ~ , 

1 ~- _ I • • - , " ~ , ~ 

stressed that "the disparate impact model requires proof of a causal connection 
_ L - !" ,,-

• ! " "., ~ " ' 

,~ ,- . ~ .' ;' 

between a challenged employment practice and the composition of the workforce." 
i' ., - - ~-

1 " 

Id. at 801. 

The plaintiffs have failed to show that the reading requirement resulted in a 
i 

, 1 

sex based imbalance in the School Board's workforce. the fact that the institution 
L ,-

~ I I ," 
~~j,., ~~~, ~c'~ 

of this requirement fell totally on part time female janitorial employees may reflect a I . . , 

pre-existing imbalance resulting from other factors, but the disparate impact theory 
j 

properly focuses on results. 

Accordingly, the defendants' M6ti~n for Summary Judgment (Doc. No. 73) is 
- 1', ' " 

L , . 
hereby GRANTED and this action sh~il be dismissed. 

Baton Rouge, Loui~iana, June 5,2001. 
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H V. PARKER, 
- NIj ED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

ODLE DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 
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